# ORIGINAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

:

:

:

EUGENE R. O'NEAL, Petitioner, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

Case No. 87,858

## DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

WAYNE S. MELNICK Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 5444

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

#### TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before this Honorable Court on discretionary review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeals which expressly declared valid section 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), and rejected vagueness and lenity arguments expressly based on the Due Process Clauses of both the Florida and United States Constitutions. <u>O'Neal v. State</u>, 1996 WL 135502 (Fla. 2d DCA March 27, 1996).<sup>1</sup>

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 8, 1995, the State Attorney in and for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, filed an information against Petitioner, EUGENE ROHALIA O'NEAL. (R. 2-4). The information charged Mr. O'Neal with two counts in a single information. Count I in case number CF95-0407, alleged:

> EUGENE ROHALIA O'NEAL on the 16th day of November, 1994, in [Polk County], between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m., unlawfully did possess a controlled substance, to-wit, cocaine, with intent to sell or deliver said controlled substance, and unlawfully did possess said controlled substance in, on or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle or secondary school, to-wit, Roosevelt Vocational School, in violation of section 893.13, Florida Statutes, contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made and provided and against the peace and dignity of the State of Florida.

(R. 2-4) (emphasis supplied). Count II alleged:

<sup>1</sup>A copy of the District Court's opinion is attached in the Appendix at Al.

EUGENE ROHALIA O'NEAL on the 16th day of November, 1994, in [Polk County], <u>between the</u> <u>hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m.</u>, unlawfully did sell or deliver a controlled substance, towit, cocaine, in, on or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle or secondary school, to-wit, Roosevelt Vocational School, in violation of section 893.13, Florida Statutes, contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made and provided and against the peace and dignity of the State of Florida.

(R. 2-4) (emphasis supplied).

Defense counsel filed a motion to dismiss the information on June 21, 1995. (R. 11-13). In this motion, defense counsel alleged the sale of cocaine took place within 1000 feet of Roosevelt Vocational School at approximately 11:46 p.m. on May 16, 1994. (R. 11). The motion to dismiss was grounded in two arguments: 1) Roosevelt Vocational School was not a primary, middle or secondary school as defined in the statute, and 2) a prima facia case of guilt could not be established against Mr. O'Neal because his actions did not fall within the proscribed times of the statute. (R. 11-14).

Specifically, the motion asserted the statute in question was susceptible to more than one interpretation and should be construed in the light most favorable to the accused because "12 a.m." could mean either noon or midnight. (R. 11-14).

The State filed a traverse on June 19, 1995, contending the vocational school was a primary, middle or secondary school, and that the sale did take place within the statutory period.

Section 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), under which Mr. O'Neal was charged in these two counts, provides:

(c) Except as authorized by this chapter, it is unlawful for any person to sell, manufacture, or deliver a controlled substance in, on, or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle or secondary school <u>between the hours</u> <u>of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m.</u> Any person who violates this paragraph with respect to:

1. A controlled substance named or described in s. 893.03(1)(a), (1)(b), (1)(d), (2)(a), or (2)(b) commits a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084 and must be sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment of 3 calendar years.

2. A controlled substance named or described in s. 893.(1)(c), (2)(c), (3), or (4) commits a felony of the second degree punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

3. Any other controlled substance, except as lawfully sold, manufactured, or delivered, must be sentenced to pay a \$500.00 fine and to serve 100 hours of public service in addition to any other penalty prescribed by law.

(emphasis supplied).

The motions were heard by the Honorable Robert A. Young, Circuit Judge for the Tenth Judicial Circuit in and for Polk County, Florida. (R. 15). At the hearing, both the State and Defense indicated to the trial court the only issue in question was the time limits, and whether the action taken by Mr. O'Neal at approximately 11:46 p.m. fell between the times of 6:00 a.m. and 12:00 a.m. (R. 17-18). The State noted there were no cases on point, and defense counsel noted that with regard to the phrase "12 a.m.," both federal and state law "avoid that language like the plague." (R. 19-20).

Defense counsel argued the statute was vague and ambiguous because the terms "antemeridiem" and "postmeridiem," for which the terms "a.m." and "p.m." are short, both refer to noontime, with noon being the "meridiem." (R. 20-21). At one point in the discussion, even the trial court became confused as to the terms involved:

> MR. FORD: [T]he remainder of the argument would be the fact that all times during the day other than 12:00 o'clock noon either come before noon or they come after noon, they're either a.m. or p.m. with the exception of 12:00 o'clock noon. Having that argument 12:00 o'clock midnight occurring an particular day comes after noon which makes it p.m. THE COURT: But so does 1:00 o'clock a.m., doesn't it? MR. FORD: Pardon? THE COURT: 1:00 o'clock a.m. is afternoon. MR. FORD: 1:00 a.m. o'clock is in the morning, 1:00 o'clock p.m. would be afternoon, post-meridiem. THE COURT: Um-hum. MR. FORD: So midnight would be postmeridiem. Before morning. THE COURT: No, it's after morning. MR. FORD:

(R. 21).

The argument was, thus, that the statute is equally susceptible of defining a period of time of either six hours or eighteen hours. Therefore, the statute does not give a person of ordinary reason sufficient notice of exactly when the prohibited conduct falls within the embrace of the reclassification statute for enhanced punishment. Defense counsel also argued the rule of lenity under Florida law required the court to construe the statute strictly and in the light most favorably to the accused. (R. 15).

The State argued the statute proscribes the conduct between the hours of 6 a.m. and midnight because it was the "common sense interpretation." (R. 28). The State argued that midnight was the time intended by the legislature because "the legislature said what it meant and meant what it said and the conduct is proscribed up to and including the point that is midnight." (R. 29).

Finally, the trial court accepted into evidence a photograph of a sign at the Polk County jail describing visitors hours as: "8:00AM TO 10:30AM, 12:00am to 4:30pm." (R. 8, 22-23, 30-31).

The trial court granted defense counsel's motion to dismiss on June 27, 1996. (R. 32-35). The trial court noted that defense counsel withdrew the question of whether Roosevelt Vocational school was a primary, middle, or secondary school for the purposes of the statute, and urged dismissal because of the vagueness of the term "12 a.m." (R. 32). The trial court determined the law involved to be fundamental. (R. 32). The trial court explained the dictionary definitions of "a.m." and "p.m." were no help, nor were technical definitions found in celestial navigation texts. (R. 33).

The trial court noted in the many thousands of pages of Florida statutes, no other reference to "12 a.m." existed, although there were dozens of references to noon and midnight. (R. 33). The lower court then went through the rules that utilize the phrase 12 a.m. (R. 33). Examples were also given of where this Honorable Court, as well as the Second and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have either summarized evidence or quoted witnesses who used the term "12 a.m." to refer to both noon and midnight. (R. 33).

The trial court identified the issue as whether the use of "12 a.m." in the context of the drug law was so clear that a person of ordinary intelligence would be put on notice of the time periods which would subject him to a three-year minimum mandatory sentence. (R. 33). The trial court recognized the legislature intended to protect children from the scourge of drugs, but also noted that midnight is long past the school day, and that the statute applies with equal force on weekends, school holidays, and over summer vacations. (R. 34).

Because, the trial court concluded, the term was ambiguous to people of common intelligence, the statute was determined not to withstand constitutional scrutiny. (R. 34). As noted above, the motion to dismiss was granted. (R. 35). The State timely filed a notice of appeal on July 2, 1995. (R. 36).

On appeal to the Second District, the State made the same arguments it did below, namely that the statute was not unconstitutionally vague and the plain and common usage of the terms "a.m." and "p.m." was sufficient to put all those of average intelligence on notice of the statutory proscriptions. State's Initial Brief at 5. Mr. O'Neal argued section 893.13(1)(c) was unconstitutionally vague on its face, and even if constitutional, it should be narrowly construed in Mr. O'Neal's favor under the rule of lenity. The arguments were expressly predicated on the Due Process Clauses of both the United States and Florida Constitutions.

The Second District Court of Appeals reversed with a written opinion stating only "Reversed, See, <u>Jennings v. State</u>, [667 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)]."<sup>2</sup>

Mr. O'Neal moved for rehearing en banc and to certify a question of great public importance. The motion was stuck for failure to comply with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.331, because it was not made in conjunction with a motion for rehearing. Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke this Honorable Court's jurisdiction.

<sup>2</sup>A copy of the First District Court of Appeals' <u>Jennings</u> opinion is attached in the Appendix at A6-A9.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1993) reclassifies the crimes charged and enhances the punishment if the criminal conduct occurs between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m. That time period is ambiguous and unconstitutionally vague because it is equally susceptible of meaning either 6 a.m. to noon or 6 a.m. to midnight; two reasonable constructions in common usage or practice. The vague and ambiguous time period renders the reclassification and penalty enhancement statute facially unconstitutional.

Even if the statue is not facially unconstitutional, the statute cannot be constitutionally applied to petitioner because his conduct occurred between noon and midnight, during the period for which the clarity of the statute is in doubt. At the very least, this admittedly ambiguous provision should be strictly construed in the way most favorable to the accused under the constitutional and statutory rule of lenity. For the purposes of an inquiry based on vagueness and the rule of lenity, legislative intent is irrelevant.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER TO DISMISS THE INFORMATION CHARGING PETITIONER UNDER SECTION 893.13-(1)(c), FLORIDA STATUTES (1993), A CRIMINAL PUNISHMENT STATUTE DEFINING AN ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE WITH THE VAGUE AND AMBIGUOUS TERM "12 A.M.," AND FAILING TO NARROWLY CONSTRUE THE STATUTE IN QUESTION IN THE MANNER MOST FAVORABLE TO THE ACCUSED?

This petition concerns only the statutory reclassification of offenses under section 893.13(1)(a)1.(c), Florida Statutes (1993), which apply when the act of sale or possession with intent to sell occur "in, on, or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle, or secondary school between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m." Subsection 893.13(1)(a)1.(c)reclassifies the offense from the second degree felony defined in section 893.13(1)(a) to a first degree felony punishable by a minimum mandatory term of three years incarceration.

Mr. O'Neal challenges the statute in question on its face and as applied because it fails to reasonably inform a citizen of when the conduct in question is prohibited. The bottom line in this case is whether persons of common intelligence must necessarily guess at the statute's meaning and differ as to its application. <u>Connelly v. General Const. Co.</u>, 269 U.S. 385, 291, 46 S. Ct. 126, 70 L. Ed. 2d 322 (1926); <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 616 So. 2d 1198 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). Because the legislature, in composing section 893.13-

(1)(c), used the ambiguous and vague term "12 a.m.," persons of common intelligence must guess as to whether the period of time in which an offense is subject to reclassification ends is at noon or midnight.

Due Process demands that statutes have a definite and certain meaning, so that citizens are not forced to guess what it proscribes. This is particularly true for penal statues, which are strictly construed and require greater certainty than other statutes. <u>State v. Winters</u>, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977); <u>Bertens v.</u> <u>Stewart</u>, 453 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1994), this Court announced some of the controlling principles that govern this case. <u>Accord, Cabal v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S255 (Fla. June 13, 1996); <u>Perkins v. State</u>, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991). <u>Brown</u> addressed the principle with respect to a closely related statute, section 893.13(1)(i), Florida Statues (Supp. 1990), and found the term "public housing facility" unconstitutionally vague in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Florida Constitution. The <u>Brown</u> court held:

> The standard for testing vagueness under Florida law is whether the statute gives a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct. <u>Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156, 162, 92 S. Ct. 839, 31 L. Ed. 2d 110 (1972). "The language of the statute must 'provide a definite warning of what conduct' is required or prohibited 'measured by common understanding and practice.'" <u>Warren v.</u> <u>State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1376, 1377 (Fla. 1991) (quoting <u>State. v. Bussey</u>, 463 So. 2d 1141, 1144 (Fla. 1985)). Because of its imprecision, a vague statute may invite arbitrary or

discriminatory enforcement. <u>Southeastern</u> <u>Fisheries [Ass'n, Inc. v. Department of Natu-</u> <u>ral Resources</u>, 453 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984)] at 1353. A statute is not void for vagueness if the language "'conveys sufficiently definite warning as to the proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practices.'" <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 741, 747 (Fla.) (quoting <u>United States v. Petrillo</u>, 332 U.S. 1, 8, 67 S. Ct. 1538, 91 L. Ed. 1877 (1947), <u>cert. denied</u>, 459 U.S. 960 103 S. Ct. 274, 74 L. Ed. 2d 213 (1982).

When reasonably possible and consistent with constitutional rights, this Court should resolve all doubts of the statute in favor of its validity. <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So. 2d 605, 607 (Fla. 1977). But this Court has also held that when there is doubt about a statute in a vagueness challenge, the doubt should be resolved "in favor of the citizen and against the state." <u>Id.</u> at 608. In the instant cases, there is sufficient doubt about the statute, requiring the doubt to be resolved in favor of the citizen and against the State. Thus, we find the statute facially invalid under the void-for-vagueness doctrine.

Brown, 629 So. 2d at 842-43).

When the question of void-for-vagueness is raised, the statutory requirements concerning the rule of lenity requiring the strict construction of penal statutes in favor of the accused must also be considered. As noted by this Court, one of the most fundamental principles of Florida law is that penal statutes must be strictly construed to their letter. <u>State v. Camp</u>, 596 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 1992); <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 526 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 1988).

This was reiterated by this Court in <u>Perkins v. State</u>, 576 So. 2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1992):

This principle ultimately rests on the due process requirement that criminal statutes must say with some precision exactly what is prohibited. <u>E.q.</u>, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 358 So. 2d

16 (Fla. 1978); <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 257 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1971); <u>State v. Moo Young</u>, 566 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Words and meanings beyond the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening a penal statute.

Indeed, our system of jurisprudence is founded on a belief that everyone must be given sufficient notice of those matters that may result in a deprivation of life, liberty, or property. <u>Scull v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1251 (Fla. 1990) (on petition for clarification); <u>Franklin</u>, 257 So. 2d at 23. For this reason,

> [a] penal statute must be written in language sufficiently definite when measured by common understanding and practice, to apprise ordinary persons of common intelligence of what conduct will render them liable to be prosecuted for its violation.

<u>Gluesenkamp v. State</u>, 391 So. 2d 192, 198 (Fla. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u>, 454 U.S. 818, `102 S. Ct. 98, 70 L. Ed. 2d 88 (1981) (citations omitted). Elsewhere, we have said that

> [s]tatutes criminal in character must be strictly construed. In its application to penal and criminal statutes, the due process requirement of definiteness is of especial importance.

<u>State ex re. Lee v. Buchanan</u>, 191 So. 2d 33, 36 (Fla. 1966) (citations omitted); <u>accord</u> <u>State v. Valentin</u>, 105 N.J. 14, 519 A.2d 322 (1987). Thus, to the extent that definiteness is lacking, a statue must be construed in the manner most favorable to the accused. <u>Palmer</u> <u>v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1983); <u>Fer-</u> <u>guson v. State</u>, 377 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 1979).

The rule of strict construction also rests on the doctrine that the power to create crimes and punishments in derogation of the common law inheres solely in the democratic processes of the legislative branch. <u>Borges</u> <u>v. State</u>, 415 So. 2d 1265, 1267 (Fla. 1982); <u>accord United States v. L. Cohen Grocery Co.</u>, 255 U.S. 81, 87-93, 41 S. Ct. 298, 299-301, 65 L. Ed. 516 (1921) (applying same principle to Congressional authority). As we have stated,

The Florida Constitution requires a certain precision defined by the legislature, not legislation articulated by the judiciary. <u>See</u>, Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution.

<u>Brown</u>, 358 So. 2d at 20, <u>accord</u>, <u>Palmer</u>, 438 So. 2d at 3. This principle can be honored only if criminal statutes are applied in their strict sense, not if the courts use some minor vagueness to extend the statutes' breadth beyond the strict language approved by the legislature. To do so otherwise would violate the separation of powers. Art. II, Sec. 3, Fla. Const.

Explicitly recognizing the principles described above, the legislature has codified the rule of strict construction within the Florida Criminal Code:

> the provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

§ 775.021(1), Fla. Stat. (1987).

We thus must determine whether the district court honored the legal rule described here.

<u>See also, Cabal v. State</u> 21 Fla. L. Weekly S255 (Fla. June 13, 1996); <u>Scates v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1992).

In this instance, the term "12 a.m." is not otherwise defined in section 893.13(1)(c) or in other statutes. Consequently, this Court must look to the ordinary meaning and common understanding of these words. <u>Bertens v. Stewart</u>, 453 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). However, the plain and ordinary meaning of "12 a.m." is not clear. On its face the term is vague because it encompasses more then one possible valid interpretation. <u>See</u>, <u>Cabal v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S255 (Fla. June 13, 1996) ("when a statute is susceptible to more than one meaning, the statute must be construed in favor of the accused") (quoting <u>Scates v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1992)); <u>Linville v. State</u>, 359 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1978) ("chemical substance" broadly encompassed unduly large number of materials and objects); <u>Bertens</u>, <u>supra</u> ("medicine" included too many substances).

In this case, it is the time frame that is in question. Section 893.13(1)(c) proscribes the possession with intent to deliver within 1000 feet of a school "between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m. . . ." Petitioner does not disagree with the State's contention that 6 a.m. is 6:00 in the morning. However, as stated above, what is in contention is whether the term "12 a.m." refers to noon or midnight. In its order dismissing the information, the trial court found the term "12 a.m." to be ambiguous to people of common intelligence. (R. 34). The trial court's finding of fact is supported by evidence and therefore cannot be disturbed on appeal. See, e.q., Doctor v. State, 665 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1995).

<u>Webster's New World Dictionary</u> defines "antemeridiem" as "before noon." "Postmeridiem" is likewise defined as "after noon." Similarly, <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> also defines "a.m." to mean "before noon" while "p.m." is defined as "afternoon" <u>Id.</u> at 79, 1155 (6th ed. 1990). <u>See, American Heritage Dictionary</u>, 66, 2217 (1990 ed.).

As such, 11:59 in the morning is 11:59 a.m. and 12:01 in the afternoon is 12:01 p.m. The "meridiem" of the day, therefore, is noon. As awkward as it may appear, the correct shorthand for noon would thus be 12:00 M.

The term midnight is frequently used as a deadline or cutoff time in statutes and in contracts and has been interpreted as the last moment of any given day. An example of this is that income tax returns must be postmarked by midnight of April 15. That being so, anything that occurs at midnight on a given day occurs after noon, and should be treated as post-meridiem, or "p.m."

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