# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



AUS 28 1996

CLARK COURT

CASE NO. 87,858

EUGENE R. O'NEAL,

Petitioner,

ν.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS BUREAU CHIEF - CRIMINAL APPEALS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 238538

ERICA M. RAFFEL
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0329150
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
2002 N. LOIS AVENUE
TAMPA, FLORIDA 32399-1050
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

The issue before the Court is whether a statute creating enhanced penalties for drug trafficking within 1,000 feet of a school should be declared unconstitutionally vague because a reasonable drug dealer might be confused by the meaning of the term "12 a.m." The Petitioner suggests that the availability of a single "vague" interpretation of the statute supersedes Legislative intent and all other constructions of the statute so as to compel a finding of unconstitutionality. This is an incorrect approach to statutory review.

The statute in question must be afforded a common sense reading with an eye towards legislative intent. In addition, the "rule of lenity," which only applies if no evidence of legislative intent can be found, still does not require an absurd or strained construction of the law. Finally, the selling of drugs is not a constitutionally protected activity, so the defendant is not entitled to "notice" regarding "time," nor can he assert a "mens rea" defense to the issue of "time." Thus, this alleged defect does not reach to a constitutional issue.

## ARGUMENT

## ISSUE I

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF §893.13(1)(c ) AGAINST A "VAGUENESS" CHALLENGE. (Restated)

Section 893.13(1)(c), Fla. Stat., has been challenged as unconstitutionally vague to the extent that it enhances the penalties for dealing drugs within 1,000 feet of a school between the hours of "6 a.m." and "12 a.m." Two general issues are presented by this case. First, there is the issue of statutory construction, particularly under the "rule of lenity." Second, there is the question of how the specific statute at bar can or should be interpreted, to see whether it is "vague." It is submitted that the Petitioner is suggesting an incorrect approach to statutory construction, the net result of which is an incorrect assessment of the constitutionality of the statute.

#### A: STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

The Petitioner takes the position that all statutes exist at the sufferance of the "rule of lenity," and are facially unconstitutional if a "vague" construction of their terms is possible. This view is decidedly incorrect.

In <u>State v. Stadler</u>, 630 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1994), this Court held:

We note that in assessing a statute's constitutionality this Court is bound "to resolve all doubts as to the validity of the statute in favor of its constitutionality, provided the statute may be given a fair construction that is consistent with the federal and state constitutions as well as with legislative intent." State v. Elder, 382 So.2d 687,690 (Fla. 1980). Further, "[W] henever possible, a statute should be construed so as not to conflict with the constitution. Just as federal courts are authorized to place narrowing constructions on acts of Congress, this Court may, under proper circumstances, do the same with a state statute when to do so does not effectively rewrite the enactment."

In State v. Iacovone, 660 So. 2d 1371 (Fla. 1995), this Court held:

Under standard rules of construction, "it is our primary duty to give effect to the legislative intent; and if a literal interpretation leads to an unreasonable result, plainly at variance with the purpose of the legislation as a whole, we must examine the matter further." Radio Tel. Communications. Inc. v. Southeastern Tel. Co., 170 So. 2d 577, 580 (Fla. 1964). Statutes, as a rule, "will not be interpreted so as to yield an absurd result." Williams v. State, 492 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1986).

In addition, this Court has recognized that the legislature has the specific authority to enact laws safeguarding "its citizens, particularly children, when such harm outweighs the interests of the individual." Griffin v. State, 396 So. 2d 152 (Fla. 1981), quoted in Jones v. State, 640 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. 1994).

The Petitioner, however, suggests that these standards are superseded by a preemptive "rule of lenity" analysis. This is not correct.

The "rule of lenity" concept derives from a similar "venerable rule of lenity" employed by the United States Supreme Court in construing federal statutes and from codification in Florida under section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes. The rule, however, does not provide the starting point for statutory construction or review as suggested by the Petitioner, but, rather, is applied only after other analyses have been exhausted.

In Albernaz v. United States, 450 U.S. 333 (1981), the Court noted that the "rule of lenity" was not a device designed to allow the Court to manufacture statutory vagueness or ambiguity in order to defeat the intent of Congress. Thus:

Lenity thus serves only as an aid for resolving an ambiguity; it is not to be used to beget one. The rule comes into operation "at the end of the process of construing what Congress has expressed, not at the beginning as an overriding consideration of being lenient to wrongdoers." Callanan v. United States, supra, at 596, 81 S.Ct., at 326.

In <u>Smith v. United States</u>, \_\_ U.S.\_\_, 113 S. Ct. 2050 124 L.Ed.2nd 138 (1993), the Court similarly held:

Finally, the dissent and petitioner invoke the rule of lenity. . . . The mere possibility of articulating a

narrower construction, however, does not by itself make the rule of lenity applicable. Instead, that venerable rule is reserved for cases where," [a]fter seiz[ing] every thing from which aid can be derived,'" the court is "left with an ambiguous statute."

Accord: United States v. Chapman, 500 U.S. 453 (1991).

Turning to the term "ambiguity," the Supreme Court held in Reno

V. Koray, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 115 S. Ct. 2021, 132 L.Ed.2d 46 (1995):

Finally, the rule of lenity does not apply here. A statute is not "ambiguous" for purposes of the rule merely because there is a division of judicial authority over its proper construction. Rather, the rule applies only if, after seizing everything from which aid can be derived, this Court can make no more than a guess as to what Congress intended.

Florida interprets its Constitution, particularly along "due process" guidelines, in a manner similar to the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Constitution of the United States. Perez v. State, 620 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 1993); Fla. Canner's Assoc. V. Dept. Of Citrus, 371 So.2d 503 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). Thus, there is no reason to utilize a different form of "rule of lenity" than that utilized in construing the federal Constitution. Indeed, this Court recognized the United States Supreme Court's standard for assessing statutory "vagueness" issues in State v. Manfredonia, 649 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1995), adopting the standard announced by the high court in Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476 (1957).

In discussing the standard for reviewing statutes for "vagueness," this Court, in <u>State v. Wershaw</u>, 343 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1977), held:

The standard for testing vagueness under Florida law is whether the statute gives a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct. . . . The language of the statute must provide a definite warning of what conduct is required or prohibited, measured by common understanding or practice.

For the purposes of this case, it is clear that the "rule of lenity" is not an overarching standard for the review of presumptively constitutional statutes. It is equally obvious that the unfortunate ability of litigants to indulge sophistry and apply unnatural meanings to terms, a talent noted in other contexts in Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370 (1990) ("parsing jury instructions for shades of meaning" to create "vagueness"), cannot serve to establish "vagueness" in relation to the statute under attack.

## B: STATUTORY ANALYSIS

Section 893.13(1)(c), Fla. Stat., states in relevant part:

Except as authorized by this chapter, it is unlawful for any person to sell, manufacture, or deliver, or possess with intent to sell, manufacture, or deliver a controlled substance in, on, or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle or secondary school between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m.

Contrary to the patently "forced" uncertainty of the Petitioner's brief, the statute is unambiguous in both its meaning and its intent. The purpose of the statute is to protect school children from drug dealers during school hours. Obviously, the way to protect school children from dealers is to create a statutory prohibition which would be in effect during the hours when children are likely to be in school; from their potential arrival at six in the morning until midnight when all extracurricular activities should be over.

This reading is apparent to anyone who attempts a good faith reading of the statutes. In any event, there is a Legislative staff analysis, which states:

Provisions relating to mandatory minimum sentences (with one exception) and certain release mechanisms are deleted to conform to the sentencing guidelines revision. The bill retains the three year mandatory minimum sentence for the sale, manufacture or delivery or possession with the intent to sell, manufacture or deliver, a controlled substance within 1,000 feet of a school. However, the offense is revised to provide that such offense only occurs between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 midnight.

The term "midnight" is used in the legislative analysis, and serves as the necessary indicator of the intent of the Legislature when it used the term "12 a.m."

lower courts noted the existence of intellectual disagreement over the meaning of "a.m." and "p.m.," and the State has never doubted the existence of a debate on point. The term "a.m." stems from the Latin "ante meridiem" (before the middle of the day) while "p.m." stems from "post meridiem," or "after the middle of the day." The "meridiem," on Roman sun dials, was "noon." Thus, 12 hours "ante" the meridiem was midnight, while 12 hours "post" meridiem was also "midnight." Interestingly, since the "meridien" is noon, it really matters little if "a.m." or "p.m." is used, since the "meridien" cannot be twelve hours "ante" or "post" itself, while "midnight" fits either description. no good faith argument could be made for the proposition that Mr. O'Neal felt secure in selling drugs after the passage of only six hours (6 a.m. till Noon). Furthermore, since time does not run backwards, and the statute spans the time from 6 a.m. until 12 a.m., the time frame clearly spans 18 hours from six hours before the meridien until 12 hours before the next meriden, rather than from midnight to 6 a.m.

Petitioner conceded at the trial level that digital clocks register p.m. at 12 noon and a.m. at 12 midnight. (R26). Thus, while theorists can debate the heady issue of whether midnight is "ante" or "post" the meridiem, the simple truth is that our society

(or at least those members who can tell time or watch television or listen to radio) have been conditioned to understand 12 a.m. as being the appellation for midnight. The rest is sophistry.

Turning to the statute, the intent of the Legislature, again, was to keep drug dealers away from children. Even if the Petitioner chooses to feign confusion over the meaning of "12 a.m.," no intelligent person would suggest that the Legislature enacted a law to prevent dealers from selling drugs from six in the morning until lunch time, but not to punish drug sales during the noon lunch hour or the end of the school day, or during after school activities like ball games, club meetings or dances. Furthermore, the intent of the legislation would not be met by banning drug sales between midnight and 6 a.m. The Petitioner's argument to the contrary would, in violation of the rules of statutory construction, result in a strained and absurd result. It's a rule of lenity for ambiguous statutes not a rule of absurdity for unambiguous statutes.

This, of course, is not the first attempt to apply an unnatural or forced construction to this statute. In <u>State v. Burch</u>, 545 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), <u>aff'd.</u>, <u>Burch v. State</u>, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990), the issue of how to measure 1,000 feet was raised as

an issue of "vagueness." The District Court noted several very important points:

- 1) The Court held that a reasonable statutory interpretation, based upon Legislative intent, could be applied to interpret the "1,000" feet as meaning "as the crow flies" rather than some circuitous route devised by some defense team to enable the dealer to sell his wares closer to the children.
- 2) There is no constitutionally protected right to sell illegal drugs, so the "notice" arguments raised by the defendant were of no force.

This holding is especially significant in its adoption of the reasoning in <u>United States v. Agilar</u>, 779 F. 2d 123 (2d Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 475 U.S. 1068 (1986), regarding "notice," since the essence of the Petitioner's argument is that drug pushers have a right to notice regarding the collateral issue of "time" so that they can minimize their possible sentences while breaking the drug laws. Constitutional requirements regarding "vagueness" exist so that people will not be prosecuted for innocent or lawful conduct. The requirement does not extend to cover criminal conduct.

There is a federal statute, 21 U.S.C. §860, similar to the Florida Statute under attack in its restriction of drug activities within 1,000 feet of a school. (Unlike our statute, the federal

law applies 24 hours a day.) Since the statute criminalizes drug sales, not "distance," the federal courts have uniformly rejected vagueness challenges based on the computation of "1,000 feet" on the grounds that dope pushers are not entitled to "notice" in the absence of any constitutionally protected right to sell drugs. See United States v. Offaril, 779 F. 2d 791 (2d Cir. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1079 (1986), cited in State v. Burch, supra.

This is the same answer to the feigned confusion of the Petitioner at bar. The solution to O'Neal's problem was for him to refrain from selling illegal drugs in the first place, regardless of time or distance. Since drug pushing is not a constitutionally protected activity, the State has no obligation to advise Petitioner of the optimum business hours for his illegal trade. The simple concept of "obeying the law" is the one factor not cited in any of the vigorous challenges raised against the Florida and federal statutes.

It should also be noted that there is no "mens rea" requirement attending the "time" or "distance" factors. <u>Burch</u>, <u>supra</u>. Thus, the question of "what 12 a.m. means" is irrelevant, since O'Neal's knowledge of the time or his intent in relation to the time would not constitute a defense.

In sum, the constitutionality of the statute at bar should be upheld because:

- 1) The intent of the Legislature and the meaning of the statute are known, so the "rule of lenity" analysis is not reached.
  - 2) The term "12 a.m." is recognized as meaning "midnight."
- 3) The Petitioner is not entitled to "notice" in any event, because the crime of drug dealing is not a constitutionally protected activity.
- 4) There is no "mens rea" requirement attending time or distance under this statute, so the alleged confusion at bar does not even suggest a viable defense.

## CONCLUSION

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, upholding the constitutionality of §893.13(1)(c) Florida Statutes as against a challenge of vagueness should be affirmed.